Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 1 of 48

FILED 11-15-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

AMERICAN OVERSIGHT,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

Appeal No. 22AP1532 Circuit Court No. 21CV2440

ROBIN VOS, EDWARD BLAZEL and WISCONSIN STATE ASSEMBLY,

Respondents-Appellants.

RESPONDENTS-APPELLANTS' BRIEF

APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER
ENTERED ON AUGUST 2, 2022
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR DANE COUNTY
THE HONORABLE VALERIE L. BAILEY-RIHN PRESIDING

KOPKA PINKUS DOLIN P.C.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) Vos and Blazel were responsible for producing records from contractors who were parties to contracts with the Assembly.
 - Circuit Court's Decision: In its Mandamus Order, the Circuit Court found that Vos and Blazel were responsible for producing contractors' records under Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) as to the contractors that had entered into contracts with the Assembly.
- 2. Whether the Circuit Court abused its discretion in finding Respondents in contempt of the Mandamus Order.
 - <u>Circuit Court's Decision</u>: The Circuit Court found that Respondents failed to produce responsive documents and were therefore in contempt of its Mandamus Order, even though it never found that the Respondents had custody of any record that they intentionally failed to produce.
- 3. Whether AO was entitled to attorneys' fees for the litigation of its unsuccessful contempt motion.
 - <u>Circuit Court's Decision</u>: The Circuit Court found that while the contempt proceedings did not lead to the production of any

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 7 of 48

additional responsive documents, the contempt motion was successful as the contempt proceedings uncovered that a third-party possessed responsive documents, even though there was nothing to show that Respondents possessed the documents after AO's request and before August 31, 2021.

- 4. Whether under Wisconsin's Public Records Law, a non-profit advocacy organization may recover attorneys' fees for work performed on its behalf by its in-house counsel.
 - <u>Circuit Court's Decision</u>: The Circuit Court found that AO is entitled to attorneys' fees for its in-house counsel. The Circuit Court reasoned that without an award of attorneys' fees, there would be "little incentive" for a similarly situated entity to bring a public records action.
- 5. Whether the Circuit Court erred by awarding AO attorneys' fees as damages under Wis. Stat. § 785.04(1)(a) for work performed by AO's in-house counsel on its own behalf.

<u>Circuit Court's Decision</u>: In its Order on AO's contempt motion, the Circuit Court ordered Vos and the Assembly to pay AO's costs and fees incurred in bringing the contempt motion.

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 8 of 48

6. In the event this Court finds AO is entitled to attorneys' fees under the PRL or Wis. Stat. § 785.04(1)(a), did the Court abuse its discretion in awarding \$98,073.27 in attorneys' fees?

Circuit Court's Decision: Without any substantive analysis or explanation, the Circuit Court simply awarded AO all of the attorneys' fees it sought, totaling \$98,073.27.

STATEMENT AS TO ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Respondents, Robin Vos, Edward Blazel, and Wisconsin State Assembly, believe that oral argument and publication are necessary. The issues raised in this action under Wisconsin's Public Records Law, Wis. Stat. § 19.31, et. seq., ("PRL"), are issues of first impression that warrant further oral argument and publication. Similarly, the recovery of attorney fees for a non-profit's in-house counsel under the PRL or Wis. Stat. § 785.04(1)(a) is also an issue of first impression.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS

A. Summary of Case and Issues Presented

Petitioner, American Oversight ("AO"), brought this mandamus action against the Wisconsin State Assembly (the "Assembly"), Edward Blazel ("Blazel") as custodian for the Assembly, and Robin Vos ("Vos") (collectively, "Respondents")

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 9 of 48

demanding production of certain documents pursuant to various public records requests. (See R.4.) On November 22, 2021, the Circuit Court signed an order for mandamus relief ("Mandamus Order"). (R.65.) The Mandamus Order directed Respondents to "produce contractors' records that existed through August 30, 2021, and that are responsive to the requests cited in the Petition, to the Petitioner within 10 business days from the date of the hearing, or by Friday, November 19, 2021." Id.

The Mandamus Order was fundamentally flawed as to Vos and Blazel as they did not have contracts with any contractors and therefore, they could not be responsible for the contractors' records under Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3). (See R.71.) Despite its flawed nature, Respondents complied with the Mandamus Order and produced all responsive records in their possession on November 19, 2021. See (R.69-73.) Respondents specifically identified that the production included "the remainder of the records that are responsive to the public records request that your client served on the respondents" and that "no documents are being withheld." (R.70.)

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 10 of 48

Despite AO receiving all the responsive documents in Respondents' possession, AO filed a contempt motion alleging that Respondents were not in compliance with the Mandamus Order. (R.67.) AO's motion was based entirely on its speculative assertion that there must be more documents than those produced by Respondents. (*Id.*, pp.6-10.) AO did not identify any document that was being withheld, nor did it show that Respondents did not produce responsive contractors' records that existed through August 30, 2021. (*Id.*) AO's motion was far from sufficient to establish a prima facie case of contempt.

Notwithstanding glaring deficiencies in AO's contempt motion, the Circuit Court found that AO established a prima facie case that Respondents were in violation of the Mandamus Order and then found Respondents in contempt. (R.107, pp. 11-15; R.99, 8:16-21.) The Circuit Court also entered purge conditions that required Respondents to show that they "complied with their duties under the public records law to search for responsive records created by their contractors." (R.107, pp.2, 14-15.)

After Respondents submitted written documentation and evidentiary support to address the Circuit Court's purge conditions, the Circuit Court found that Respondents purged their

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 11 of 48

alleged contempt. (R.183; R.187.) No additional documents were by produced Respondents in the contempt proceedings. (*Id.*; R.108-114.)

The Circuit Court awarded AO \$16,836.32 in attorneys' fees and \$300 in statutory damages pursuant to its mandamus action under Wis. Stat. § 19.37(2). (R.204.) The Circuit Court also awarded AO \$81,236.55 in attorneys' fees pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 785.04(1)(a) as damages in the contempt proceedings. (*Id.*). The awards under § 19.37(2)(a) and § 785.04(1)(a) included work performed by AO's in-house counsel and its retained counsel. (R.214.)

On appeal, the Respondents seek review of the following:

- 1. Whether the Circuit Court erred in finding that pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) Vos and Blazel were responsible for producing contractors' records when it was undisputed that they were not parties to the contracts.
- Whether the Circuit Court abused its discretion in finding Respondents in contempt of the Mandamus Order.
- 3. Whether AO was entitled to damages for the litigation of its unsuccessful contempt motion.

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 12 of 48

4. Whether the Circuit Court erred by finding that AO incurred damages in the form of attorneys' fees for work performed by its in-house counsel in the contempt motion.

- 5. Whether under Wisconsin's Public Records Law, AO was entitled to attorneys' fees for work performed by AO's inhouse counsel in the PRL mandamus action.
- 6. In the event this Court finds AO is entitled to attorneys' fees incurred in its contempt motion and/or under the PRL, did the circuit court abuse its discretion in awarding fees without any explanation?

B. Factual Background

AO brought this mandamus action against the Respondents demanding production of documents pursuant to various public records requests. (R.4.) On November 22, 2021, the Circuit Court signed a Mandamus Order directing Respondents to "produce contractors' records that existed through August 30, 2021, and that are responsive to the requests cited in the Petition, to the Petitioner within 10 business days from the date of the hearing, or by Friday, November 19, 2021." (R.65.)

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 13 of 48

The Mandamus Order was fundamentally flawed as to Blazel and Vos as neither were parties to a contract with contractors and therefore, they could not be responsible for producing contractors' records under Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3). (R.71.) Mandamus Order Although the was inherently Respondents complied with it on November 19, 2021, by producing all responsive documents in their possession through August 30, 2021. (See R.69-73.) Respondents specifically identified that the document production included "the remainder of the records that are responsive to the public records request that your client served on the respondents" and that "no documents are being withheld." (R.70.).

Despite receiving all responsive documents in Respondents' possession, AO filed a contempt motion alleging that Respondents were not in compliance with the Mandamus Order. (R.67.) AO's motion was based entirely on the speculation that there must be more documents than those produced by Respondents. (R.68.) AO did not identify any document that was being withheld, nor did it show that Respondents did not produce responsive contractors' records that existed through August 30, 2021. (*Id.*)

Notwithstanding the glaring deficiencies of AO's contempt motion, at the beginning of an evidentiary hearing on January 24, 2022, the Circuit Court determined, that AO made a prima facie case that Respondents were in contempt of the Mandamus Order. (R.99, 8:16-21.) The Circuit Court did not provide any explanation for its finding. (*Id.*) On March 30, 2022, the Circuit Court entered an Order finding the Vos and the Assembly were in contempt of the Mandamus Order. (R.107.)

In the Order, the Circuit Court found that AO established a prima facie case for contempt in light of AO's submission of a document that allegedly should have been produced by Respondents but was not. (*Id.*, pp.9, 11.) The document was an email dated August 17, 2021, from Michael Gableman to Vos and another individual. (R.78.) AO did not submit any evidence Respondents had custody of this email at the time AO made its requests or that they possessed it as of August 30, 2021. (R.73.; R.77.) In its Order, the Circuit Court entered purge conditions that required Respondents to show that they have "complied with their

¹ As the Court is aware, legislators are permitted to delete records any time before they have been requested under the PRL. Wis. Stat. § 16.61. Thus, the mere fact that an email was sent to Vos is not proof that he possessed it on the date that it was later requested by AO.

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 15 of 48

duties under the public records law to search for responsive records created by their contractors." (R.107, pp.2, 14-15.)

On April 13, 2022, Respondents submitted evidentiary support of their efforts to search for records and to address the purge conditions. (R.108-114.) A hearing on the purge conditions was held on May 4, 2022. (R.133.) At that time, the Circuit Court asked for additional information in the form of an affidavit from Mr. Gableman and set a continued hearing for June 23, 2022. (*Id.*)

At that June 23, 2022, hearing the Circuit Court received Mr. Gableman's affidavit and heard his live testimony. (R. 170; R. 183.) There was no showing that any of the Respondents failed, much less intentionally failed, to produce contractors' records that existed through August 30, 2021, and that were responsive to AO's requests. (*Id.*) The Circuit Court concluded that Respondents purged their contempt. (R.183; R.187.) No additional documents were produced as a result of the contempt proceedings. (*Id.*; R.108-114.)

On July 28, 2022, the Circuit Court held a hearing on AO's motion to determine costs, fees, and damages. (R.214.) AO moved for \$16,836.32 in costs fees pursuant to Wis Stat. § 19.37 for the merits of the mandamus action and \$76,274.12 in fees pursuant to

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 16 of 48

Wis. Stat. § 785.04(1)(a) for the contempt phase. (R.189, pp.5-6.)

The Circuit Court awarded every penny of AO's claimed costs, fees, and damages. (R.214.)

On August 2, 2022, the Circuit Court entered an Order awarding AO \$16,836.32 in attorneys' fees pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 19.37(2). (R.204; R.205.) The Circuit Court also awarded AO \$81,236.55 in attorneys' fees pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 785.04(1)(a). (*Id.*) The Court's award under both statutes included work performed by AO's in-house counsel. (*See* R. 214.)

On September 8, 2022, Respondents filed a notice of appeal. (R.208.)

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A. Interpretation of Wisconsin Statutes.

The application of the Public Records Law to undisputed facts is a question of law that the Court of Appeals reviews *de novo*. *Hempel v. City of Baraboo*, 2005 WI 120, ¶ 21, 284 Wis. 2d 162, 177, 699 N.W.2d 551, 559. The interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 785.04 is a question of law and is reviewed without deference to the trial court's reasoning. *Seymour v. Eau Claire*, 112 Wis. 2d 313, 319, 332 N.W.2d 821, 823 (Ct. App. 1983).

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 17 of 48

B. Finding of Contempt.

A circuit court's use of its contempt power is a discretionary act, which requires this Court "to determine if the circuit court logically interpreted the facts, applied the proper legal standard, and used a demonstrated rational process to reach a conclusion that a reasonable judge could reach." *In re Marriage of Gomez v. Leszczynski*, 2016 WI App 80, 372 Wis. 2d 185, 888 N.W.2d 23.

C. Award of Attorneys' Fees.

"[T]he proper standard upon review of attorney fees is that the trial court's determination of the value of these fees will be sustained unless there is an abuse of discretion." *Standard Theatres v. Dep't of Transp., Div. of Highways*, 118 Wis. 2d 730, 747, 349 N.W.2d 661, 671 (1984).

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ISSUING THE WRIT OF MANDAMUS AGAINST VOS AND BLAZEL AS THEY WERE NOT A PARTY TO ANY CONTRACT WITH THE CONTRACTORS.

This mandamus action has always focused on AO's requests for contractors' records related to Wisconsin's investigation of the 2020 election. This was clear from the Complaint:

47. In total, in July and August, American Oversight submitted to Speaker Vos seven requests and received responses to five of them. In no case has Speaker Vos provided any records that appear to have been maintained by any contractors. See Table 1. 48. American Oversight submitted to Clerk Blazel the same seven Requests. While American Oversight has received responses to all of them, in no case has Clerk Blazel provided any records that appear to have been maintained by any contractors.

49. Respondents have improperly withheld and delayed <u>access</u> to the Assembly's contractors' records, despite their clear obligation to provide such records "to the same extent as if the record[s] were maintained" by the Respondents. Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3).

- 57. Respondents are "authorities" and "custodians" for the <u>records of the Assembly's contractors</u> as those terms are used in Wis. Stat. §§ 19.32(1) and 19.33, and are the proper recipients of requests for the records of their contractors, *WIREdata, Inc. v. Village of Sussex*, 2008 WI 69, ¶ 74, 310 Wis. 2d 397, 751 N.W.2d 736.
- (R.4, ¶¶ 47, 49, 57 (emphasis added).) AO's application for an alternative writ of mandamus was similarly focused:
 - 7. The proper recipient of a **request for contractors' records** is the authority. *WIREdata, Inc. v. Village of Sussex*, 2008 WI 69, \P 74, 310 Wis. 2d 397, 751 N.W.2d 736.
 - 8. The Wisconsin Assembly hired **contractors** in June 2021 to investigate the November 2020 election; the contractors included former Wisconsin Supreme Court justice Michael Gableman, retained as a supervising attorney, and Mike Sandvick and Steven Page, retained as "Integrity Investigators." (Colombo Aff., ¶¶ 3, 6, 12 & Ex. H, A-000006– A-000015.)

12. Nothing in the records the Petitioner has received to date indicates that Respondents have provided **records of their contractors** that were produced or collected under their contracts with the Wisconsin Assembly. Moreover, nothing indicates that the Respondents-Appellants even requested the **records of their contractors** or made any attempt to obtain the **requested contractor records**.

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 19 of 48

17. Respondents indicated that their responses are final, but Petitioner has not received **the requested contractor records**, and Respondent has not provided a timeline for a response to Petitioner's outstanding requests. (Colombo Aff., ¶¶ 6-7 & Exhs. H-S.)

- (R.6, ¶¶ 7, 8, 12, 17 (emphasis added).) Vos and Blazel have consistently asserted that they are not responsible for these contractors' records. In their Answer, Vos and Blazel asserted:
 - 9. Robin Vos is an adult resident of the State of Wisconsin and an elected member of the Wisconsin State Assembly (the "Assembly"), representing the 63rd Assembly District. Vos is an "authority" as that term is defined in Wis. Stat. § 19.32(1). He is not, however, an authority in regard to records related to Justice Gabelman's investigation.
 - 10. The Chief Clerk is an "office" under Wis. Stat. §§ 19.32(1) and 19.42(13)(e), and Assembly Chief Clerk Blazel is an "authority" as that term is defined in Wis. Stat. § 19.325(1). He is not, however, an authority in regard to records related to Justice Gableman's investigation.

$(R.56, \P\P 9, 10 \text{ (emphasis added)}; see also R. 108$

The Mandamus Order singularly focused upon contractors' records:

Respondents shall produce contractors' records that existed through August 30, 2021, and that are responsive to the requests cited in the Petition, to the Petitioner within 10 business days from the date of the hearing, or by Friday, November 19, 2021.

(R.65.) Thus, the Complaint, Writ, Answer, and the Mandamus Order all focused upon, and were limited to, the production of contractors' records related to Wisconsin's investigation of the 2020 election.

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 20 of 48

Neither Vos nor Blazel had a contract with anyone regarding the investigation of the 2020 election. (R.71.) The only party to the contracts with the election investigators was the Assembly. (Id., pp.1-3.) This was recognized by Judge Remington in a separate action and is irrefutable on the record in this matter as well. See American Oversight v. Assembly Office of Special Counsel, 2021cv-3007, Decision and Order, Doc. 165, p. 34 ("[T]he contractors whose records American Oversight seeks do not have contracts with each of the three of the legislative Respondents- only the assembly (sic).").2 Because neither Vos nor Blazel had a contract with any election investigator, they cannot be responsible for producing contractors' records under Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3). See WIREdata, Inc. v. Vill. of Sussex, 2008 WI 69, ¶ 84, 310 Wis. 2d 397, 751 N.W.2d 736 (holding the authority who is party to the

_

² The Court can take judicial notice of facts and documents outside of the record when: 1) the fact for which judicial notice is requested is capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot reasonably be questioned; and 2) a party asks the court to take judicial notice and gives the court the necessary information. Wis. Stat. § 902.01(2)(b), (4). See Perkins v. State, 61 Wis. 2d 341, 346, 212 N.W.2d 141 (1973) recognizing that the supreme court has taken judicial notice of state records that are available at the seat of government in Madison that are easily accessible. Judge Remington's decision is available at the Dane County Courthouse and is contained in the record before this Court in 22AP636 and 22AP1516.

Case 2022AP001532 Appellants Brief Filed 11-15-2022 Page 21 of 48

contract is solely responsible for providing access to contractor's records.).

The only party in this case that could be subject to a writ of mandamus directed to the production of contractors' records related to the election investigation was the Assembly, not Vos or Blazel. The Circuit Court erred in ordering Vos and Blazel to produce contractors' records pursuant to its Mandamus Order.

- II. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT AO ESTABLISHED A PRIMA FACIE SHOWING THAT THE COURT'S LAWFUL ORDER HAD BEEN DISOBEYED.
- a. Vos and Blazel Could Not Be Held in Contempt of the Unlawful Mandamus Order.

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