Case 2022AP001532 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-15-2022 Page 1 of 64

FILED 12-15-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II

Case No. 22-AP-1532

AMERICAN OVERSIGHT,

Petitioner-Respondent,

v.

ROBIN VOS, EDWARD BLAZEL and WISCONSIN STATE ASSEMBLY,

Respondents-Appellants.

Dane County Circuit Court Case No. 21-CV-2440, the Hon. Valerie Bailey-Rihn and the Hon. Diane M. Schlipper, presiding

BRIEF OF PETITIONER-RESPONDENT AMERICAN OVERSIGHT

PINES BACH LLP

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

ARGUMENT

This is an appeal of several, specific rulings of the circuit court, spanning nearly the entirety of this Open Records case. The proceedings below were about Assembly Respondents' inadequate responses to AO's open records requests for records of contractors performing an investigation of the 2020 election on behalf of the Assembly. The relevant contracts were entered into and overseen by Vos, as leader of the Assembly and pursuant to an explicit delegation of authority by the Assembly; likewise, as Chief Clerk, Blazel administered the open records responses and oversaw payment of the contractors on behalf of the Assembly.

After rejecting arguments not at issue in this appeal, the circuit court ordered Assembly Respondents to respond to AO's requests in full. When that response proved demonstrably inadequate, the circuit court held Assembly Respondents in contempt to force sufficient performance of their official responsibilities and compliance with the court's order.

Assembly Respondents' piecemeal attacks to the circuit court's orders are not tethered to the facts, the history of this case, or Wisconsin law. It is not correct that the Open Records law cannot be applied by the courts to the actual public officials responsible for entering and

Case 2022AP001532 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-15-2022 Page 28 of 64

administering the state's contracts. It is not correct that the circuit court abused its discretion or acted without reason or explanation. It is not correct that the contempt order was unfounded or unnecessary to achieve compliance with the Mandamus Order. And it is not correct that Wisconsin Law prohibits non-profit organizations from recovering the reasonable costs of their in-house litigators. Indeed, Assembly Respondents offer no reason to disrupt the fee award in this case.

Ultimately, Assembly Respondents seek to avoid paying attorneys' fees under the Open Records Law's fee-shifting provision and as a remedial sanction for their contempt of the court's Mandamus Order. As such, this appeal is little more than an after-the-fact effort to avoid the consequences of Assembly Respondents' violations of the Open Records law and the Mandamus Order. It should be rejected in its entirety, and this Court should affirm the circuit court.

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY ISSUED THE MANDAMUS ORDER TO VOS AND BLAZEL.

Assembly Respondents do not dispute that the circuit court properly issued the Mandamus Order to the Assembly, and they do not challenge the validity of the overall order. Instead, they claim the court erred in directing the order at Vos and Blazel because they supposedly did not "ha[ve] a contract with anyone regarding the investigation of the 2020

Case 2022AP001532 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-15-2022 Page 29 of 64

election." (Assem. Br. at 15.) While not fully explained, Assembly Respondents' argument appears to be that Vos and Blazel are not expressly named as parties to the contracts, which are between "The Wisconsin Assembly" and the contractors. (*See id.*; *see also* Doc. 28 at 8-17.) This argument entirely ignores that Vos acted on the Assembly's behalf in engaging the contractors, and, without Vos and Blazel, there would be no way to enforce Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3), contrary to the Open Records law's express terms and purpose.

As a threshold issue, Assembly Respondents fail to mention they did not raise the question of whether Vos and Blazel were "parties" to the election investigators' contracts (or what import, if any, such a factual finding would have under Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3)) at the time the Mandamus Order was issued, despite ample opportunity to do so. They did not file *any* motions at all before the show cause hearing (*see* Doc. 37); they did not raise this argument in their "Answer" (*see* Doc. 56), at oral argument (*see* Doc. 58, AO-App-1-44), or when they objected to portions of the proposed mandamus order (Doc. 62); and they did not argue that only the Assembly had or could respond to the Mandamus Order when making the November 19 production (*see* Doc. 70, AO-App-45). This Court can decline to address this issue on that ground alone. *See Schonscheck v. Paccar, Inc.*,

2003 WI App 79, ¶ 11, 261 Wis. 2d 769, 661 N.W.2d 476 ("[a] fundamental appellate precept is that [appellate courts] will not blindside trial courts with reversals based on theories which did not originate in their forum" (internal quotation marks omitted)).³

But even if the issue of whether Vos and Blazel "had" a contract under Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) had been timely raised, it does not supply any basis to disrupt the Mandamus Order as issued against Vos and Blazel.

A. The Text of the Open Records Law Supports Enforcing Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) Through Vos and Blazel, in Addition to the Assembly.

The Open Records law is clear that government authorities are responsible for disclosing the records of their contractors. Assembly Respondents seek to upend this mandate by distinguishing between a government entity and the public officials with authority—in this case,

-

³ Assembly Respondents did raise this issue as a defense to contempt. (*See* Doc. 75 at 6; Doc. 100 at 3-4.) The circuit court rejected that defense, noting Assembly Respondents had not directly attacked the Mandamus Order. (*See* Doc. 107 at 10-11.) The circuit court also noted a motion for reconsideration requires "present[ing] newly discovered evidence or establish[ing] a manifest error of law or fact," *Bauer v. Wis. Energy Corp.*, 2022 WI 11, ¶ 13, 400 Wis. 2d 592, 970 N.W.2d 243 (quotation marks and citation omitted), and found the collateral argument, even if construed as such a motion, did not meet those standards. (Doc. 107 at 11 & n.4.)

Additionally, when Respondents state that "Vos and Blazel have consistently asserted that they are not responsible for these contractors' records," they cite only vague passages from the "Answer" (Doc. 56, \P 9-10; Assem. Br. at 14), omitting that they made the exact same assertions regarding the Assembly (Doc. 56, \P 11), which indisputably had a contract with the investigators (Assem. Br. at 15).

Case 2022AP001532 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-15-2022 Page 31 of 64

expressly delegated authority, *see* Part I.B—to act on its behalf. Assembly Respondents' view, if adopted, would significantly limit courts' ability to enforce Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3), contrary to the clear mandates in the Open Records law itself.

Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) states:

Each authority shall make available for inspection and copying under s. 19.35(1) any record produced or collected under a contract *entered into by the authority* with a person other than an authority to the same extent as if the record were maintained by the authority.

Id. (emphasis added). Assembly Respondents seek to supplant this text with several vague standards, none of which are explained or supported. (See Assem. Br. at 12 (Vos and Blazel "were not a party to any contract"), 15 ("[n]either Vos nor Blazel had a contract").) They do not once address whether the requested records were "produced or collected under a contract entered into by" Vos or Blazel. They also do not explain why, in their view, Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) applies only to "parties," or what it means to "have" a contract. In short, the statute is specific in describing a "contract entered into by the authority," and Assembly Respondents ignore that language. See State ex rel. Kalal v. Cir. Ct. for Dane Cnty., 2004

Case 2022AP001532 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-15-2022 Page 32 of 64

WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 (commanding courts to "begin[] with the language of the statute").

The enforcement provision of the Open Records law also does not support Assembly Respondents' narrow view of who may be subject to a mandamus order to produce records. Wis. Stat. § 19.37(1)(a) provides that "[i]f an authority withholds . . . or delays granting access" to a record, "[t]he requester may bring an action for mandamus asking a court to order release of the record." It does not say that the order may *only* be issued to the authority who withholds or delays access to the record, or preclude naming specific custodians to carry out the order's mandates.

Moreover, a narrow reading of Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) does not comport with the purpose of the provision, which is to prevent a government authority from "avoid[ing] the public access mandated by the public-records law by delegating both the record's creation and custody to an agent." *J. Sentinel, Inc. v. School Bd. of Sch. Dist. of Shorewood,* 186 Wis. 2d 443, 452-53, 521 N.W.2d 165 (Ct. App. 1994); see also Juneau Cnty. Star-Times v. Juneau Cnty., 2013 WI 4, ¶ 40, 345 Wis. 2d 122, 824 N.W.2d 457. It also flies in the face of the statutory mandate to "construe[] [the Open Records law] in every instance with a presumption of complete public access." Wis. Stat. § 19.31; see also Juneau Cnty., 345 Wis. 2d 122, ¶ 40 (observing a narrow

interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) "seems contrary to the legislature's directive" in Wis. Stat. § 19.31).4

Finally, the only case Assembly Respondents cite does not support their argument. In WIREdata, $Inc.\ v.\ Vill.\ of\ Sussex$, the Wisconsin Supreme Court held, as relevant here, that authorities remain responsible for producing records of their contractors even if those records are in a contractors' custody. 2008 WI 69, $\P\P$ 4-5, 310 Wis. 2d 397, 751 N.W.2d 736. Nowhere in WIREdata does the court specifically limit this holding to "authorit[ies] who [are] part[ies] to the contract," as Assembly Respondents suggest. (See Assem. Br. at 15-16.)⁵

B. Vos and Blazel Were Responsible For Producing the Contractors' Records Under Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3).

Here, there was ample reason under Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) and § 19.37(1) to issue the mandamus order to Vos and Blazel, in addition the Assembly.

_

⁴ In at least some situations, Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3) even requires a government authority to disclose records produced pursuant to a contract to which the authority is not a party. See, e.g., Juneau Cnty., 345 Wis. 2d 122, $\P\P$ 10, 30 (requiring the authority to release records produced pursuant to a contract between a law firm and an insurer, even though only the insurer was a party to the contract with the authority).

⁵ Respondents' reliance on a single line from a ruling in a "separate action" (Assem. Br. at 15), *American Oversight v. Assembly Office of Special Counsel*, Dane County Case No. 21-cv-3007, is not evidence in this case—and had no bearing on the issuance of the Mandamus Order, which came many months prior to that ruling.

Case 2022AP001532 Brief of Respondent Filed 12-15-2022 Page 34 of 64

Vos, acting in his capacity as Speaker of the Assembly, *did* enter the contracts with the election investigators. Prior to engaging the contractors, Vos sent a mail ballot to the Assembly Committee on Assembly Organization, which:

authorized the Speaker of the Assembly to hire legal counsel and employ investigators to assist the Assembly Committee on Campaigns and Elections in investigating the administration of elections in Wisconsin. Speaker Vos, on behalf of the Assembly, shall approve all financial costs and contractual arrangements for hiring legal counsel and investigators.

(Doc. 4, ¶ 16; Doc. 64, ¶ 16; see also Doc. 72 at 6.) In other words, Vos was expressly and explicitly delegated the authority to enter into contracts with the election investigators on the Assembly's behalf. Moreover, it was his official duty to oversee the contracts, including approving "all contractual arrangements."

According to these duties and authorities, Vos then hired the election investigators. (Doc. 4, ¶¶ 17-18; see Doc. 64, ¶¶ 17-18.) He was the sole government signatory to each of their contracts. (See Doc. 28 at 11, 14, 17.) The contractors reported directly to Vos's office and were required to submit reports to him. (See id. at 8, 12, 15.) Vos's legal counsel, Steve Fawcett, was the designated "point of contact" with whom the lead investigator would coordinate. (See id. at 8.) The investigators were not

allowed to disclose any "information/findings related to the services rendered" except to designees named by Vos. (*Id.*)⁶

The testimony of Blazel and Vos's representative, Fawcett, also demonstrates why all three Assembly Respondents were properly ordered to produce contractors' records in line with Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3). After the Court issued its Mandamus Order, Fawcett "contacted the Office of Special Counsel and . . . notified them of the order and asked them to turn over the documents they had in their possession that were responsive to these requests." (Doc. 99 at 16:1-5, AR-App-21; see also id. at 30:18-24, 31:6-13, AR-App-35-36.) Fawcett testified he understood "Vos's office" to "ultimately [be] subject to the open records request" and that "the buck stops with . . . Mr. Vos and his office to produce relevant documents." (Id. at 60:14-61:9.)

Blazel also had a significant degree of communication with and control over the contractors, in particular with respect to open records compliance. For example, it is the Chief Clerk's responsibility to send open records productions to requesters on behalf of the Assembly, and he

_

 $^{^6}$ In their "Answer," Assembly Respondents argued that suing Vos and Blazel in their official capacities was equivalent to suing the Assembly itself. (Doc. 56, $\P\P$ 1-3.) If that argument had been adopted, as Assembly Respondents urged the circuit court to do, there was no harm in issuing the Mandamus Order against all three parties as effectively all three would have worked on behalf of the Assembly to comply with the order.

already had responded to several of AO's requests (albeit without contractors' records, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 19.36(3)). (*See* Doc. 99 at 88:1-5, AR-App-93; *see also* Docs. 4, 10-11, 16-17, 28-30.) Blazel also was responsible for contractor invoices and payments on behalf of the Assembly. (*See*, *e.g.*, Doc. 28 at 1, 3-5, 7; Doc. 99 at 93:2-5, AR-App-98.)

It was reasonable for the circuit court to tie the Mandamus Order to the individuals who the record showed were clearly responsible for producing the records and who could effectuate the order. Indeed,

Assembly Respondents' hyper-technical argument does not have any practical effect; because the Mandamus Order indisputably applied to the Assembly and resulted in the production of some records, this litigation would have proceeded in essentially the exact same way, with the exact same result.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY FOUND A PRIMA FACIE CASE OF CONTEMPT.

There is no basis to disrupt the circuit court's discretionary determination that AO made a prima facie case of contempt; Assembly Respondents were not free to ignore the Mandamus Order and there were ample grounds to find the Order had been violated.

A. Vos and Blazel Were Bound to Follow the Mandamus Order, Even if They Disagreed With It.

Contrary to Assembly Respondents' argument that "Vos and Blazel could not be held in contempt of the unlawful mandamus order" (*id*. at 16), Vos and Blazel were not free to ignore the Mandamus Order; having sought no additional relief, they were bound by the Order's terms, regardless of whether they agreed with it.

As an initial matter, the circuit court found "Vos and the assembly in contempt, but not Edward Blazel." (Doc. 107 at 14, AR-App-117; see also id. ("[r]emedial sanctions are necessary to force Vos and the assembly into compliance. . . . but not Blazel.").) Thus, Assembly Respondents simply misunderstand this case in arguing the contempt finding "against Vos and Blazel cannot stand." (Assem. Br. at 17 (emphasis added).)⁷

In any event, as explained in Part I, Vos and Blazel *were* properly subject to the Mandamus Order. But even if that were not the case, they were not free to ignore it.

It is a basic tenet of the judicial system that parties may not ignore court orders simply because they disagree with them. *See State v. Orethun*, 84 Wis. 2d 487, 490, 267 N.W.2d 318 (1978) (assuming proper jurisdiction,

⁷ Respondents repeatedly state that *all* "Respondents" were held in contempt. (Assem. Br. at 5-6.) If Respondents intended to limit the argument about Blazel to the first step of the contempt analysis – the prima facie showing – that argument also fails; Blazel was not ultimately found in contempt and thus there is no appealable order applicable to him. *See Brown v. LaChance*, 165 Wis. 2d 52, 69, 477 N.W.2d 296 (Ct. App. 1991) ("We do not give advisory opinions.").

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